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[N THE UNITED STATES D1STRJCT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRJCT OF CALIFORNIA 

9 CENTER FOR FOOD SAFETY, et .1. 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

EDW ARJO T. SCHAFER, et .1. 

Defendants. 
___________ 1 

No. C 08-00484 JSW 

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS' 
MOTION FOR A PRELIMINARY 
INJUNCTION 

Now before the Court is the motion for a preliminary injunction filed by plaintiffs 

Center for Food Safety, Organic Seed Alliance, Sierra Club, and High Mowing Organic Seeds 

(collectively, "Plaintiffs'"). Having considered the parties' arguments and relevant legal 

authority, and having had the benefit of oral argument, the Court hereby DENIES Plaintiffs' 

19 motion for preliminary injunction. I 

20 BACKGROUND 

21 In September 2009, the Court ruled that the decision by the United States Department of 

22 Agriculture ("USDA") and its Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service ("APHIS") to 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

I The Court GRANTS the parties' requests to file supplemental declarations by Paul 
H. Achitoff, John Navazio, and David Berg. The Court GRANTS Defendant-lntervenors's 
request to file the designated portions of the Declarations of Susan Henley Manning, Ph.D., 
Richard J. Sexton, David Berg, Richard Gerstenberger, Duane Grant, Michael Hofer, Russell 
Mauch, Michael Petersen, and John Snyder under seal and Plaintiffs' request to file portions 
of their reply brief and Exhibits 50 through 69 to the confidential and supplemental 
declarations of Paul H. Achitoffunder seal. 

Defendant-Intervenors submitted voluminous evidentiary objections. To the extent 
the Court relied on evidence objected to in resolving Plaintiffs' motion, the objections are 
overruled. To the extent the Court did not need to consider such evidence in order to resolve 
the motion for preliminary injunction, the Court need not rule on the admissibility o[such 
evidence at this time. 
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deregulate a variety of genetically engineered sugar beets without preparing an environmental 

2 impact statement ("EIS") violated the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.c. §§ 4321· 

3 4335 ("NEPA"). Plaintiffs now move for a preliminary injunction to preclude all further 

4 planting, cultivation, processing, or other use of geneticall y engineered Roundup Ready sugar 

5 beets or sugar beet seeds, including but not limited to pennitting any Roundup Ready sugar beet 

6 seed crop to flower. Plaintiffs' proposed preliminary injunction would include requiring the 

7 sugar beet seed crop that has already been planted to be pulled up. 

8 Defendants Edward T. Schafer, in his official capacity as Secretary of the United States 

9 Department of Agri culture, and Cindy Smith, in her official capacity as Administrator of the 

10 Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (collectively, "Defendants"), and Defendant-

t: 11 Intervenors American Sugarbeet Growers Association, Ervin Schlemmer, Mark Wettstein, John 

" c5 § 12 Synder, and Duane Grant, American Crystal Sugar Company, the Amalgamated Sugar _ s 
r.) �~� 13 Company, Western Sugar Cooperative, Wyoming Sugar Company, LLC, United States Beet 
.!:: '0 
�.�~� g 14 Sugar Association, Betaseed, Inc., Monsanto Company, Syngenta Seeds, Lnc., and 
�~ �~� 
�~� E 15 SESVanderHave USA, Inc. (collectively, "Defendant-Intervenors") all oppose Plaintiffs' 
E i 
r.IJ Z 16 motion. 
�-�o �~� 
�~� .E 17 The Court shall discuss additional facts as necessary in the analysis. 

" ;;> 18 ANAL YSlS 

19 A. Legal Standards Appli cable to Motion for a Preliminary InjuDction, 

20 In order to obtain a preliminary injunction, Plaintiffs "must establish that (they are) 

21 likely to succeed on the merits, that [they are] likely to suffer irreparable hann in the absence of 

22 preliminary relief, that the balance of equities tips in [their] favor, and that an injunction is in 

23 the public interest." Winter v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 129 S. Ct. 365, 374 (2008) 

24 (citations omitted). The Winter court also noted that because injunctive reli ef is "an 

25 extraordinary remedy," it "may only be awarded upon a clear showing that the plaintiff is 

26 entitled to such relief."' ld. at 375-76 (citing Mazurek v. Annstrong, 520 U.S. 968, 972 (1997) 

27 (per curiam». Thus "[iJn each case, courts 'must balance the competing claims of injury and 

28 must consider the effect on each party of the granting or withholding of the requested relief. ',. 

2 
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ld. at 376 (citing Amoco Production Co. v. Gambell, 480 U.S. 531,542 (1987)). "'In exercising 

2 their sound discretion, courts of equity should pay particular regard for the public consequences 

3 in employing the extraordinary remedy of injunction,'" ld. at 376-77 (citing Weinberger v. 

4 Romero-Barcelo. 456 U.S. 305, 312 (1982)). 

5 B. Discussion. 

6 1. Likelih ood of Success 0 0 the Merits. 

7 Plaintiffs have done more than shown a likelihood of success on the merits. By order 

8 dated September 21, 2009, the Court has already found, on the merits, that Defendants have 

9 violated NEPA by fai li ng to conduct an EIS before deregulating genetically engineered sugar 

10 beets. Therefore, Plaintiffs have already succeeded on the merits. 

II 2. Likelib ood of Irreparable Harm. 

12 Upon review of the record currently before the Court, the Court also finds that Plaintiffs 

13 have demonstrated a likelihood of irreparable harm. Defendants and Jntervenor-Defendants 

14 expend a great amount of time in an effort to demonstrate that the chances of genetically 

15 engineered sugar beets cross-pollinating with conventional sugar beets, Swiss chard, or table 

16 beets are minuscule, if they exist at all. However, there is evidence in the record to show that 

17 geneticall y engineered sugar beets may mix with and contaminate Swiss chard, table beets or 

18 conventional sugar beets through mechanical, or other means. Jay M iller, the product manager 

19 oflntervenor-Defendant Betaseed, admits that "[n]o matter how careful a seed producer is, 

20 when the same facility is being used to process and ship both [genetically engineered] and 

21 conventional seed, there is no way to completely prevent conventional seed from being found in 

22 shipments of [genetically engineered] seed, and vice versa." (Declaration of Jay Miller, 1 34.) 

23 Producers of sugar beet seed, including Betaseed, produce both genetically engineered and 

24 conventional seed. (ld.) 

25 The Court also finds it significant that genetically engineered sugar beet stecklings were 

26 found in a large pi le of compost or potting soil being sold at a nursery in Oregon. (Declaration 

27 of Carol Savonen, 8-14; Declaration of Casper Lehner, 19-20.) Although lntervenor-

28 Defendant Betaseed took efforts to retrieve the soil with these steckl ings from the nursery and 
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